FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 9/14/2022 8:08 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/14/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>101279-</u>9 NO. 37343-6-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALEJANDRO OCAMPO MARTINEZ,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

The Honorable Cameron Mitchell, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Ave., Ste. 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS</u> <u>DECISION</u>

Petitioner Alex Ocampo Martinez asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' part-published decision in <u>State v.</u> <u>Alejandro S. Martinez</u>, No. 37343-6-III, filed June 28, 2022 (Appendix A). The court of appeals denied Alex's motion for reconsideration on August 18, 2022 (Appendix B).

B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Is this Court's review necessary to determine whether the defense has a constitutional right to inquire into prospective jurors' potential racial and ethnic biases during voir dire where, as here, the court of appeals agreed there was a rational concern about juror bias against the defendant, a Mexican immigrant accused of rape?

2. Is this Court's review warranted, where the court of appeals' decision sanctions the prosecution's use of an alleged alias to argue consciousness of guilt, based on nothing more than

-1-

the defendant's use of his given name, consistent with Latinx naming conventions?

3. Is this Court's review warranted, where no court has previously determined whether defendants—here, brothers—may be joined for trial based on separate rapes that occurred at different times?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹</u>

Alejandro Ocampo Martinez was born in Mexico in 1978. 10RP 1279-80. His father was Cresenciano Ocampo Ocampo and his mother was Urbina Martinez Marinda. 10RP 1311. He goes by Alex Ocampo or Alex Ocampo Martinez. 10RP 1279-80, 1305-06. His Mexican passport and birth certificate, as well as his marriage license, are all in the name Alex Ocampo or Alex Ocampo Martinez. 3RP 28; 9RP 656-57;

¹ For brevity, this section summarizes only the relevant substantive evidence and procedural history. The facts related to the three issues presented for review are summarized in their corresponding argument sections below.

10RP 1298, 1305. His younger half-brother is Eduardo Salgado Martinez, born in 1980. 10RP 1305, 1321.

In 1993, Alex's and Eduardo's mother, Urbina, married Santiago P., who has three sons of his own, E.P. (born in 1988), J.P. (born in 1989), and R.P. 9RP 843-44; 10RP 1037, 1105. That same year, Urbina and Santiago, along with Eduardo and Santiago's three sons, moved from Mexico to the United States. 9RP 844-45. Alex was already living and working in Grandview, Washington, by that time. 10RP 1288-89.

The family settled in Prosser, Washington. 10RP 1038-39. In the summer of 1995, the family lived in a mobile home park behind the Burger King in Prosser. 9RP 847. Alex would occasionally stay with the family. 10RP 1282. In the fall of that same year, Santiago and Urbina separated, and Santiago moved with his sons to Grandview, where they enrolled in Whitstran Elementary. 9RP 858-61, 885. The families did not see each other again. 9RP 866. Nothing of note happened for three years. In September of 1998, however, an explicit drawing was passed around the school bus and confiscated. 9RP 933. It had J.P.'s name at the top and depicted an adult man having anal sex with an adult woman. 9RP 712-14. The Whitstran principal spoke with J.P. about it. 9RP 929-33. J.P. gave multiple explanations for the drawing, including that another student drew it. 9RP 959-61. But the principal pressed J.P. until he admitted he drew the picture and claimed the same thing happened to him. 9RP 934.

Detective Lee Cantu investigated. 9RP 605. He talked with J.P., who claimed Eduardo sexually abused him, and E.P., who claimed both Eduardo and Alex sexually abused him. 9RP 614-16. Cantu learned Eduardo was living with Urbina at the same trailer park behind the Burger King in Prosser. 9RP 615-617. However, the boys' father thought Alex had moved to New York. 9RP 617.

Cantu went to the trailer park and found a handwritten sign for the manager, Alejandro Martinez, along with a phone

-4-

number. 9RP 626. Cantu called the number and the man identified himself as Alejandro Martinez. 9RP 627. The man told Cantu he was working at a produce plant in Sunnyside, so Cantu went there to speak with him. 6RP 627-28.

When Cantu arrived, the plant manager informed him no Alejandro Martinez worked there, only a Ricardo Martinez. 9RP 629. The man working under the name Ricardo verbally identified himself as Alejandro Martinez, but did not have any identification. 9RP 630, 735. Cantu explained it is common practice for people in the industry to work under false names if they lack the proper paperwork. 9RP 724.

Cantu informed the man he was investigating a matter involving E.P. and J.P. that occurred in the fall of 1995, but did not say he was investigating allegations of sexual abuse. 9RP 734, 740. The man agreed to provide a written statement—a single line that, translated literally, read, "Me, Alejandro, did that with [E.] one time." 9RP 643. The man never stated what "that" was. 9RP 741. Cantu did not arrest the man, but told him the case would be forwarded to the prosecutor's office. 9RP 644.

After that, Cantu tried to contact Eduardo and the man who identified himself as Alejandro Martinez but could not reach them. 9RP 647-48. Cantu learned the man was going to be terminated from his job for working under a false name. 9RP 743-44.

In November of 1998, Alex was charged under the name Alejandro S. Martinez with one count of first degree child rape against E.P. CP 1. Eduardo was charged with one count of first degree child rape against E.P. and another count against J.P. CP 10-11, 279. Warrants issued for their arrest. 9RP 649. Cantu did not make any further attempt to locate the brothers, and nothing happened for 20 years. 6RP 650-51, 806-08.

Alex and Eduardo both settled in Bridgeport, Connecticut. 10RP 1295. Alex worked for several years as a gas station attendant and then as an automotive mechanic. 10RP 1290-92. He started an automotive repair shop with his

-6-

brother in 2013 and got married in 2015. 10RP 1291-95. Eduardo, too, got married and raised three children. 10RP 1325-26. Neither brother had any run-ins with the police for those 20 years. 1RP 141-42, 152; CP 240-41.

In November of 2018, Eduardo got in a fender bender. 10RP 1343-44. As a result, police discovered Eduardo's outstanding warrant. 9RP 562, 583. Eduardo was transported back to Washington, at which time he told police he made some mistakes when he was younger and was paying for the consequences now. 9RP 920. Eduardo also supposedly said he moved to Connecticut when he heard of this investigation. 9RP 920. Eduardo later explained he regretted an unresolved DUI from his youth and left Washington for that reason, not because of any knowledge of the investigation involving E.P. and J.P. 10RP 1334, 1348.

The prosecution proceeded to trial solely against Eduardo. CP 72-73. Eduardo's trial ended in a mistrial after Detective Cantu commented, in the prosecution's rebuttal case, on Eduardo's invocation of his right to counsel. CP 73.

When Alex learned of the charge against him, he voluntarily returned to Washington to resolve it. 10RP 1297. At Alex's first court appearance, his counsel informed the court that Alex's name was incorrect on the information and noted his true name, Alex Ocampo Martinez. 1RP 6-8. The prosecution moved to join Alex's and Eduardo's cases for trial. CP 294-305; 1RP 74. The trial court granted joinder over both brothers' objections. CP 4-9; 1RP 75-86.

The parties proceeded to a second trial, which ended in a hung jury and another mistrial was declared. 5RP 4-12; CP 41. A third trial began, but yet another mistrial was declared after Eduardo's attorney violated a ruling in limine in opening statement. 8RP 625-27.

The parties proceeded to a fourth trial in October of 2019. 9RP 519. E.P. testified, one time in 1995, Alex put his penis in E.P.'s mouth and then his anus. 10RP 1041-43. Alex

would have been 17 years old at the time. 10RP 1280. Both E.P. and J.P. testified Eduardo anally penetrated them on multiple occasions. 10RP 1044-47, 1109-15. J.P. said Alex never molested him. 10RP 1183.

Both Alex and Eduardo testified at trial. 10RP 1279, 1321. Alex explained he goes by Alex Ocampo Martinez, not Alejandro Martinez. 10RP 1279-80. He moved to Connecticut in November of 1995. 10RP 1289. Around 1998, he lived in Mexico for about a year before returning to Connecticut. 10RP 1290. Alex testified he never met Detective Cantu—he was not living in Washington in 1998 when Cantu interviewed an Alejandro Martinez. 10RP 1298, 1304. Alex noted he has a cousin by that name who lived in Prosser at the time. 10RP Santiago agreed Alex has a cousin named Alejandro 1299. Martinez and Cantu agreed it is a common name. 9RP 827-28, 893-94. Alex explained he did not know of any arrest warrant and, in fact, had returned to Washington several times in the interim, including getting his passport in 2006. 10RP 1298.

The jury found Alex and Eduardo guilty. CP 150-52.

D. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

1. The court of appeals held the defense has no constitutional right to inquire into prospective jurors' potential racial or ethnic biases except in extremely limited circumstances, apparently not present here, even though the court of appeals admitted the defense had a rational concern about juror bias against Latinx immigrants.

During voir dire, both defense attorneys requested that they be allowed to inquire into prospective jurors' opinions on immigration and any prejudices they hold against immigrants, including undocumented immigrants. 2RP 444-47. Counsel for Alex explained:

Your Honor, I think immigration situation in this country has been a legitimate factual question to ask these jurors because this country seems to be very divided and very prejudiced now with the wall issue about whether or not we accept people coming into this country to do work. And quite frankly, both the victims and the defendants are subject to the way the jury views them and how they're going to treat the immigration process.

They could easily see this as a way to get rid of people from this country, or they can see it as a way to stand up against the president of this country. I think it is a legitimate question.

2RP 445-46. Alex's counsel emphasized, "[t]hroughout the trial there is going to be that undercurrent of immigration," and so it was critical for the defense "to fetter [sic] out bias." 2RP 459.

Counsel for Eduardo acknowledged he could ask prospective jurors whether they were prejudiced against Hispanic people. 2RP 460. But, he explained, "I've been doing this a long time, I never heard anybody in a jury pool admitted to be prejudiced by anything, ever." 2RP 460-61. He lamented, "So I usually don't ask it. I'm not going to get anywhere with it. No one is going to stand up and say I just can't do it." 2RP 461. However, "some people have very strong feelings" about immigration, so Eduardo's counsel proposed that he could ask questions about the border wall and the like, to "get an idea how people think, at least in terms of if I want to use my challenges." 2RP 461. He attorney reiterated, "we live in a time that's extremely divisive." 2RP 461.

The trial court prohibited any "inquiry into the jury venire's opinions regarding immigration, illegal immigration," erroneously relying on ER 413(a), which applies only to the admission of *evidence*. 2RP 470. The court allowed the attorneys to inquire only "regarding whether or not any of the venire members have any particular prejudice against those of Hispanic descent or ethnicity." 2RP 470.

Unsurprisingly, no prospective jurors volunteered that they would be prejudiced against a Hispanic defendant. 2RP 493-94; <u>State v. Berhe</u>, 193 Wn.2d 647, 657, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019) ("Due to social pressures, many who consciously hold racially biased views are unlikely to admit to doing so.").

The court of appeals acknowledged Alex's and Eduardo's attorneys expressed a "rational" concern the jury would infer they were undocumented and, furthermore, "the evidence rules would not protect them from a risk of juror bias." Appendix A, 28. The court nevertheless concluded the brothers had no constitutional right to inquire into prospective jurors' biases against Mexican

-12-

immigrants, documented or otherwise. Appendix A, 24-26. The court reasoned the right to inquire into racial or ethnic bias in non-capital cases applies "only narrow circumstances," apparently not present here, despite defense counsel's admittedly rational concern about juror bias. Appendix A, 25.

The court of appeals' decision in cannot be squared with other court of appeals cases or evolving case law from the United States Supreme Court and this Court, including this Court's recent decision in <u>State v. Zamora</u>, 199 Wn.2d 698, 512 P.3d 512 (2022). All four RAP 13.4(b) criteria are met.

"The constitutional promise of an 'impartial jury trial' commands jury indifference to race." <u>State v. Monday</u>, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). "A searching voir dire is a necessary incident to the right to an impartial jury." <u>United States v. Bear Runner</u>, 502 F.2d 908, 911 (8th Cir. 1974). While the trial court has considerable discretion in shaping the limits and extent of voir dire, that discretion is limited "by the need to

assure a fair trial by an impartial jury." <u>State v. Frederiksen</u>, 40 Wn. App. 749, 752, 700 P.2d 369 (1985).

A trial court's refusal to permit specific questions requires reversal "if the questioning is not reasonably sufficient to test the jury for bias or partiality." <u>Id.</u> The <u>Frederiksen</u> court articulated three situations that require specific voir dire questions "because of the real possibility of prejudice":

(1) when the case carries racial overtones; (2) when the case involves other matters (*e.g.*, the insanity defense) concerning which either the local community or the population at large is commonly known to harbor strong feelings that may stop short of presumptive bias in law yet significantly skew deliberations in fact; and (3) when the case involves other forms of bias and distorting influence which have become evident through experience with juries (*e.g.*, the tendency to overvalue official government agents' testimony).

40 Wn. App. at 753; <u>see also State v. Brady</u>, 116 Wn. App. 143, 148, 64 P.3d 1258 (2003) (applying <u>Frederiksen</u> factors to conclude improper restriction of voir dire necessitated reversal in part because three of the four defendants were Black). Alex

demonstrated in his opening brief why all three situations were present in his case. Am. Br. of Appellant, 27-31.

The court of appeals dismissed the rule of <u>Frederiksen</u> out of hand (and made no mention of <u>Brady</u>), because <u>Frederiksen</u> made only "passing reference to the right to an impartial jury." Appendix A, 27. This Court's review is necessary because the <u>Frederiksen</u> rule is and should be a constitutional one.

In recent years, our high courts have made "significant strides" towards rooting out both explicit and implicit racial bias in our criminal justice system. <u>Berhe</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 664. Although identifying implicit racial bias, in particular, "is inherently challenging," we must not "throw up our hands in despair at what appears to be an intractable problem. Instead, we should recognize the challenge presented by unconscious stereotyping... and rise to meet it." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v.</u> <u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d 34, 49, 309 P.3d 326 (2013)). Therefore, "as our understanding and recognition of implicit bias evolves, our procedures for addressing it must evolve as well." <u>Id.</u> at 663.

For instance, in <u>Berhe</u> and <u>Peña-Rodriguez v. Colorado</u>, 580 U.S.__, 137 S. Ct. 855, 865, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017), this required that the general rule prohibiting impeachment of jury deliberations must yield to allegations that racial bias was a factor in the verdict. In <u>State v. Jefferson</u>, 192 Wn.2d 225, 249-50, 429 P.3d 467 (2018), and with the adoption of GR 37, this required modification of the toothless <u>Batson</u> test to curb discrimination in the exercise of peremptory challenges. And, in <u>Monday</u>, this required application of the heightened constitutional error standard when a prosecutor engages in race-based misconduct. 171 Wn.2d at 680.

Just two days after the court of appeals' decision in Alex's case, this Court in <u>Zamora</u> held the heightened standard adopted in <u>Monday</u> "has proved insufficient to deter such conduct." 199 Wn.2d at 722. This Court therefore adopted "the tested and proven rule of automatic reversal" (i.e., structural error) to "enforce the Constitution's guarantee against state-sponsored racial discrimination in the jury system and safeguard a criminal

defendant's fundamental protection of life and liberty against race or color prejudice." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Peña-Rodriguez</u>, 137 S. Ct. at 867) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In <u>Zamora</u>, the prosecution purposefully and repeatedly appealed to negative stereotypes about Latinx immigrants during jury selection. Id. at 719-20. This Court recognized "our nation's history-remote and recent-is rife with examples of discrimination against Latinxs based on ethnicity," detailing institutional discrimination, segregation, illegal deportations, and mob violence inflicted against Latinx individuals even suspected to be of Mexican descent. Id. at 719. The court further recognized "the topics of border security at the United States-Mexico border, undocumented immigrants, and alleged criminal acts committed by immigrants were covered in the news contemporaneous with the trial." Id. at 720. "The rhetoric associated with these topics often conveyed implicit or explicit prejudices and stereotypes about Latinxs." Id.

Fortunately, the prosecution did not infect Alex's and Eduardo's jury selection with the same kind of racial bias as in <u>Zamora</u>. But <u>Zamora</u> highlights the pressing need for defense counsel to try to ferret out racial and ethnic bias among prospective jurors in this case.

Though decided quite some time ago, the Eighth Circuit's decision in <u>Bear Runner</u> is analogous. There, the trial court's single, general question concerning racial bias, put to prospective jurors as a group, was insufficient to discover potential juror bias against Native Americans. <u>Bear Runner</u>, 502 F.2d at 912-13. The Eighth Circuit emphasized recent events involving the occupation of Wounded Knee and took judicial notice that "[t]he feelings of the local citizenry ran high." <u>Id.</u> The "sincere concern over prejudicial issues" necessitated a more "searching" inquiry. <u>Id.</u> at 912-13.

Consistent with <u>Bear Runner</u>, the <u>Zamora</u> court emphasized voir dire is a critical aspect of criminal defendants' Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 right to a fair and

-18-

impartial jury. <u>Zamora</u>, 199 Wn.2d at 712. Voir dire "serves to protect the defendant's right to an impartial jury by exposing possible biases on the part of potential jurors and by selecting a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence." <u>Id.</u> Therefore, our state and federal constitutions "at times demand[] that defendants be permitted to ask questions . . . that are designed to explore potential racial bias." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Peña-Rodriguez</u>, 137 S. Ct. at 868). <u>Frederiksen</u> articulates exactly the circumstances that demand this more searching voir dire inquiry.

Negative stereotypes and bias against Latinx immigrants continue to pervade our public discourse and, in turn, our criminal justice system. But the court of appeals nevertheless concluded there is no constitutional right in a non-capital case like Alex's—even where the defense has a "rational" concern about bias—to inquire into biases prospective jurors might hold against Latinx immigrants. Our ever-evolving understanding of the systemic harm racial and ethnic bias inflicts on our justice system requires more. <u>Zamora</u>, 199 Wn.2d at 709. This Court should grant review to answer whether the <u>Frederiksen</u> standard is a constitutional one.

2. The court of appeals' decision condones admission of alleged "alias" evidence based on a Latinx defendant going by his given name, consistent with Latinx naming conventions.

As discussed, Alex's father is Cresenciano Ocampo Ocampo and his mother is Urbina Martinez Miranda. 10RP 1311. Consistent with Latinx naming conventions, Alex's given name is Alejandro Ocampo Martinez and he most often goes by Alex Ocampo.² 10RP 1305-06, 1311. Alex acknowledged people sometimes call him Alejandro, but he goes by and prefers

² Former Director of the Office of Public Defense, Joanne Moore, capably explained in her book <u>Immigrants in Court</u>: "All Mexicans officially carry two surnames, composed of their father's paternal (first) surname and their mother's paternal surname. Thus the child of José Rodríguez Sánchez and María Barrero Ruiz will receive one or more first, or given, names, such as María del Pilar, along with each parent's first surname, in this case Rodríguez Barrero. If she is to be addressed by only one of her names, it would be her paternal surname, in this case Rodríguez." JOANNE MOORE, IMMIGRANTS IN COURT 93 (1999); <u>accord United States v. Ornelas Ledesma</u>, 16 F.3d 714, 715 (7th Cir. 1994) (explaining the same).

Alex. 10RP 1280, 1302. His Mexican passport, birth certificate, and his marriage license, among other official documents, are all in the name Alex Ocampo or Alex Ocampo Martinez. 3RP 28; 9RP 656-57; 10RP 1298, 1305, 1310-11.

The prosecution moved to admit Alex's purported name change from Alejandro S. Martinez to Alex Ocampo Martinez and his "continued use of an alias" as probative of "his consciousness of guilt." 2RP 310-12; CP 285. The prosecution claimed Alex "changed his name" when he "fled from Washington to Connecticut [in 1998]." CP 286.

Defense counsel strenuously objected to this alleged alias evidence. 2RP 312-14. Counsel put it, quite bluntly, "I'm sure glad I'm not Hispanic, Your Honor. I'm glad my family members are not Hispanic. They seem to want to use a name which is traditional in Hispanic family and imply different meanings to it." 2RP 312. Counsel explained: "He chose Alex because he's never liked Alejandro. He's never gone by Alejandro. People may call him Alejandro, just like somebody's

-21-

mother may call a Ted a Theodore or something like that." 2RP 314. Counsel asserted an inference of guilt from Alex's name reflected "this misunderstanding of his cultural background and the way the Hispanic name system works." 2RP 313. It was therefore "unfair and prejudicial." 2RP 314.

The trial court admitted the evidence, concluding, simply, "I think there has been a threshold showing sufficient to allow the State to present their evidence." 2RP 316.

The court of appeals found no problem with the prosecution arguing consciousness of guilt from such ambiguous evidence regarding Alex's name.³ Appendix A, 31-33. In so concluding, the court of appeals failed to apply the rule from this

³ This conclusion is particularly troubling, where research has demonstrated mock jurors are more likely to view ambiguous evidence as indication of guilt for darker skinned suspects. The Sentencing Project, <u>Race and Punishment: Racial Perceptions</u> and Crime and Support for Punitive Penalties, 13-14 (2014), <u>https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/race-and-</u> <u>punishment-racial-perceptions-of-crime-and-support-for-</u> <u>punitive-policies/</u> (last visited Sept. 12, 2022).

Court's recent decision in <u>State v. Slater</u>, 197 Wn.2d 660, 486 P.3d 873 (2021).

At issue in <u>Slater</u> was whether a single failure to appear (FTA) for court amounted to flight evidence from which the prosecution could argue consciousness of guilt. 197 Wn.2d at 664-65; <u>State v. Freeburg</u>, 105 Wn. App. 492, 497-98, 20 P.3d 984 (2001) (recognizing test for flight evidence also applies to other concealment evidence, such as resisting arrest and assumption of a false name). The <u>Slater</u> court adopted the following test for determining when flight evidence is admissible to show an inference of consciousness of guilt:

"the degree of confidence with which four inferences can be drawn: (1) from the defendant's behavior to flight; (2) from flight to consciousness of guilt; (3) from consciousness of guilt to consciousness of guilt concerning the crime charged; and (4) from consciousness of guilt concerning the crime charged to actual guilt of the crime charged."

197 Wn.2d at 669 (quoting <u>Freeburg</u>, 105 Wn. App. at 498). The court emphasized such an inference must be "*substantial* *and real*," not "*speculative, conjectural, or fanciful*." <u>Id.</u> at 668 (quoting <u>State v. Bruton</u>, 66 Wn.2d 111, 112-13, 401 P.2d 340 (1965)).

Slater's single FTA failed the first inference, where he appeared for all prior court hearings and timely quashed the bench warrant. <u>Slater</u>, 197 Wn.2d at 673. It was therefore error for the trial court to admit the evidence and, additionally, misconduct for the prosecutor to "improperly equate the FTA with consciousness of guilt." <u>Id.</u> at 683.

The court of appeals failed to examine the "alias" evidence under the four-part test mandated by <u>Slater</u>. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The alleged alias evidence in Alex's case failed all four inferences, including the first inference, as in <u>Slater</u>. The decision emphasizes the prosecution "was able to demonstrate that all of the documents Alex pointed to as identifying him as Alex Ocampo or Alex Ocampo Martinez were created after 1998." Appendix A, 33. However, this failed to take into account the undisputed fact that Alex's father was Cresenciano

Ocampo Ocampo and his mother was Urbina Martinez Miranda and, so, Alex's given name is Alex Ocampo Martinez, consistent with also undisputed Latinx naming conventions. 9RP 835-36; 10RP 1305-06, 1311.

The court of appeals' decision further ignores a second important holding of <u>Slater</u>. RAP 13.4(b)(4). That is, courts can no longer consider supposed flight or concealment evidence in a vacuum, without consideration of real-world factors and their effects on persons of color. The <u>Slater</u> court explained there are many innocent reasons people fail to appear for court, often impacting indigent people and people of color:

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