FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/28/2022 2:06 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101279-9

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ALEJANDRO MARTINEZ, Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

TERRY J. BLOOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. None of the factors in RAP 13.4 (b) for acceptance of review apply on the trial court's limitations into asking potential jurors their attitudes toward illegal immigrants.

Summary of argument: The trial court's discretion regarding conduct of voir dire is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Far from abusing its discretion, the trial court kept irrelevant information—the immigration status of the alleged victims and the defendants—while allowing the defendants to question the venire about attitudes toward Hispanic immigrants.

1. Overview: Standard on review is abuse of discretion and the defendant has misstated the request to the trial court and the effect of the court's order.

First, the standard of review for a challenge to the trial court's decision on voir dire is abuse of discretion. A trial court has discretion to conduct voir dire and is limited only when the record reveals that the court abused its discretion and thus prejudiced the defendant's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. The defendant must show the trial court abused its discretion and that his right to a fair trial was prejudiced. *State v. Davis*, 141 Wn.2d 798, 825-26, 10 P.3d 977 (2000). So, the issue for the Court of Appeals and this Court is whether the trial

court by limiting inquiry into the immigration status of the alleged victims and the defendants abused its discretion.

Second, the defendant has misstated the issue and the effect of the trial court's ruling. The defendants wanted permission to ask the venire about their attitudes on the immigration *status* of the alleged victims and defendants, not their attitudes toward Mexican immigrants.

If granted, this request would have possibly led potential jurors to conclude the case was less worthy of their full consideration because all involved were in the country illegally. The defendants did not want to ask the venire about possible biases against Mexican immigrants, they wanted to inform the jury that the chief participants came to the U.S. illegally. That would violate ER 413 and introduce evidence to the jury that would be irrelevant if introduced at trial.

2. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any opinion of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals, it is not a significant Constitutional question, and

# the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

#### There is no Conflict with other decisions.

The defendant relies on *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 512 P.3d 512 (2022). But *Zamora* supports the trial court's decision not to allow questioning on voir dire into the parties' immigration status.

The problem in *Zamora* was that one party in jury selection repeatedly referred to topics of border security, illegal immigration, and crimes committed by undocumented immigrants. That is not far from the request by the defendants herein to ask questions about former President Trump's proposed wall on the southern border and attitudes toward illegal immigrants. The prosecutor in *Zamora* never explained why those questions were appropriate and the defendants in this case, although they were given a day to think about it, could not come with any reason that the immigration status of the victims and defendants were relevant.

The *Zamora* court determined whether the attorney's conduct was a flagrant appeal to jurors' potential racial bias by asking whether an objective observer could view the questions during voir dire as an appeal to the jury panel's potential prejudice, bias, or stereotypes abouts Latinxs. *Id.* at 718. An objective observer is a person who is aware of the history of race and ethnic discrimination in the United States and aware of implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination. *Id.* 

Under this test, an objective observer could view the effort to ask the jury panel about illegal immigrants as an appeal to potential prejudice. An objective observer could see the questions as a ploy subtlety to inform the jury that they should not be concerned about the alleged victims and the defendants. A potential juror might think, "If they are not in the country legally, why am I here. I don't care what happened to illegals 20 years ago."

The *Zamora* court quoted with approval the lower court opinion that "the prosecutor's conduct was improper because the addition of 'border security and illegal immigration as a layer to the question was irrelevant and unnecessarily politicized." *Id.* at 714. Whether it is the prosecutor or defense attorney injecting irrelevant and politicized comments in voir dire does not matter.

The defendant also relies on *State v. Frederiksen*, 40 Wn. App. 749, 700 P.2d 369 (1985). The issue in *Frederiksen* was whether the trial court abused its discretion by not allowing inquiry in voir dire about jurors' attitudes toward self-defense. *Id.* at 750. The Court of Appeals is correct that the defendant herein is arguing a constitutional right to an impartial jury while *Frederiksen* is an abuse of discretion case, and on an issue not relating to race or ethnicity.

Further, *Frederiksen* outlined three areas where trial courts may be especially concerned about prejudice. *Id.* at 753. None of those factors apply. The case did not carry racial

overtones. This was not a white victim / Hispanic defendant case. The defendants and alleged victims were all the same ethnicity. The local community did not hold strong feelings (e.g., the insanity defense). There were no other forms of bias and distorting influence.

The case of *U.S. v. Bear Runner*, 502 F.2d 908 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1974), which the defendant argues is analogous is not on point. PRV at 23. In that case a Native American stood trial for larceny in the same general locality where the highly publicized events involving Native Americans at Wounded Knee had taken place several months before. The Eighth Circuit observed that in the wake of the Wounded Knee incident the feelings of the local citizenry ran high. The trial court conducted the voir dire and only asked general questions.

The defendants had put in the time to come up with some questions to ask a venire about attitudes toward Native

Americans. *Bear Runner*, 502 F.2d at 910-11. The Eighth

Circuit ruled that where tensions were high, detailed questions were needed to insure an impartial jury.

In *U.S. v. Hasting*, 739 F.2d 1269 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1984), a case involving the prosecution of five African American defendants accused of kidnapping white women, the court refused to follow *Bear Runner* because "there is no indication that either they (news reports in media) or other recent events has sparked racial discord among the local citizenry." *Id.* at 1273. In this case, there is nothing in the record showing that there were *any* reports in local media or that the local citizenry was riled up about it.

# Not a significant question of Constitutional Law and No Substantial Public Interest

Where the defense attorneys cannot articulate any reason why the jurors may be questioned about their attitudes toward illegal immigrants, where such information would be irrelevant, and where the *Zamora* case specifically advised against such questioning, there is no significant constitutional issue.

Likewise, there is no substantial public interest in this issue.

Defense attorneys should be allowed to carefully craft questions to gauge potential jurors' attitudes toward Mexican immigrants—which the trial allowed. But there is no public interest in allowing questions about the whether an immigrant from Mexico is in the U.S. legally.

- B. The factors in RAP 13.4 (b) do not apply regarding the Court of Appeals' decision that the trial court did not abuse its discretion regarding "alias" evidence.
  - 1. Overview: Standard on review.

Decisions involving evidentiary issues lie largely within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion. *State v*. *Castellanos*, 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997).

## 2. None of the factors in RAP 13.4 (b) apply.

The defendant relies on *State v. Slater*, 197 Wn.2d 660, 486 P.3d 873 (2021). But that case is not helpful in this situation. Mr. Slater appeared at multiple court hearings but missed court the day his case was called for trial. He

proactively initiated contact with the court and sought to quash the warrant that had been issued about one month after he failed to appear. *Id.* at 664. The trial court refused to sever a bail jumping count with the underlying No Contact Order Violation. The court in *Slater* reversed the convictions and ordered that the cases be severed.

Here, we have not only both defendants vanishing and moving across the country within days after they learned the police were investigating their stepbrothers report of sexual abuse. In addition, Alejandro changed his name and date of birth.

If Alejandro had been arrested in 1997, had posted bail and had missed one court date in a long line of court dates and then proactively came to court to quash his warrant, *Slater* may apply. But there was sufficient evidence in this case to show that the defendants fled as soon as they learned the police were investigating their stepbrothers' allegations and that as part of trying to conceal his whereabouts, Alejandro changed his name

from Alejandro S. Martinez to Alex Ocampo and changed his date of birth.

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with all other cases from this Court and other Court of Appeals decisions.

State v. Allen, 57 Wn. App. 134, 143, 787 P.2d 566 (1990), and State v. Chase, 59 Wn. App. 501, 507, 799 P.2d 272 (1990) allowed the admission of false names to prove consciousness of guilt. The defendant attempted to distinguish these two cases because the false name was given directly to the police. But assumption of a false name is admissible if there is a reasonable inference of consciousness of guilt of the charged crime. State v. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 497, 20 P.3d 984 (2001).

There is no significant issue of constitutional law and no substantial public interest in the issue of why Alejandro changed his name and date of birth.

C. The trial court properly joined the defendants for trial; the Court of Appeals decision on this issue was correct and none of the factors in RAP 13.4 (b) apply.

The State incorporates its briefing on this issue to the Court of Appeals. The State called virtually the same witnesses in the first trial involving Eduardo alone, as in the subsequent trials with both defendants. The alleged rapes happened in the same location and the J.P. and E.P. were witnesses to each other's rape. The rapes happened only when the mother of the defendants and the father of J.P. and E.P. were away from the residence. Since both defendants claimed that nothing ever happened with their stepbrothers, the joinder caused them no prejudice.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 3,644 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.